STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

ORIGINAL

Appeal from Charleston County

RECEIVED

Honorable Roger M. Young, Circuit Court Judge

MAR 22 2018

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

CARLOS A. RUIZ,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2017- 000214

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ROBERT M. DUDEK
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the court erred by allowing the testimony of DSS worker Letrice Smalls that the agency determined that the child's mother was a "non-supportive" mother, and erroneously "non-believing" of her accusing daughter's allegations where appellant continued to live in the household since this testimony was irrelevant, and it improperly bolstered the state's contention that the minor was telling the truth, and that appellant was guilty?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted by the Charleston County Grand Jury for three counts of criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the first degree, and three counts of criminal sexual conduct in the second degree. R. 480 – 491. His case was called to trial on January 9, 2017, before the Honorable Roger M. Young, and a jury. R. 1.

Mary Ford and Nicholas Smit represented appellant. Deborah Herring-Lash and Nina Savas were the assistant solicitors. Court interpreters worked the trial. R. 1.

On January 13, 2017, the jury found appellant guilty on all counts. R. 470, ll. 14-25. Judge Young sentenced the then sixty-one year old appellant to life imprisonment on each count of criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the first degree, and twenty years imprisonment on each count of criminal sexual conduct in the second degree. R. 473, ll. 10-15; R. 479, ll. 13-17.

This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

The court erred by allowing the testimony of DSS worker Letrice Smalls that the agency determined that the child's mother was a "non-supportive" mother, and erroneously "non-believing" of her accusing daughter's allegations where appellant continued to live in the household since this testimony was irrelevant, and it improperly bolstered the state's contention that the minor was telling the truth, and that appellant was guilty.

The minor girl in this case was born in 2003. R. 19, ll. 10-16. She was living in a foster home at the time of the trial. She was in the eighth grade. R. 20, ll. 7-21.

The minor alleged at the time of the sexual abuse she lived with her mother, appellant (the stepfather), her sister and brother, and her two "baby brothers," who were her stepbrothers. R. 20, ll. 3-13. The minor's allegations were that appellant began sexually abusing her when she was six years old. He would, according to the minor, offer her candy in exchange for oral sexual acts. R. 32, l. 11 – 34, l. 4. The minor said that she did not tell anyone because she thought appellant would be mad at her, and that her mother would also get mad "and think I was lying or something." R. 36, ll. 7-18.

The minor testified that around the sixth grade, the oral sex became sexual intercourse. R. 44, l. 4 – 50, l. 21. The minor also alleged that appellant would hoard food in his bedroom, and that he would give her food in exchange for sex. R. 93, ll. 18-25.

The evidence was undisputed that appellant at one point was in an extremely damaging accident -- he was hit by a car -- and the minor said "he completely stopped [the alleged sexual activity] because he was immobile." R. 56, l. 21 – 58, l. 6. However, the minor claimed after some time appellant again engaged in oral sex with her. R. 58, ll. 7-14.

On cross-examination, the minor admitted that she sometimes heard voices that no one else could hear. The voices called her name, among other things. At trial, the minor said “that doesn’t [happen] anymore.” R. 78, l. 24 – 79, l. 14.

The minor denied that she was “acting” the entire time in an attempt to get appellant removed from the home. However, one thing was clear, her brother and sister also admitted, as will be seen infra, that they did not like appellant, who was an older man, and indeed they hated him. The minor said she did not like being accused of being a chronic liar as her mother often did. The minor also said that she enjoyed writing “narratives,” and she added: “Well, that’s my career when I grow up, a writer and an activist; but it was just using different words instead of using baby words.” R. 107, ll. 2-22. The minor admitted she would rather -- at least in the past if not still -- be with boys, and that girls “were too much drama, and “they start too much stuff.” R. 109, ll. 2-8.

As for lying, the minor said “maybe when I was younger I lied a lot to my mom. I didn’t ever have a good bond with her. I didn’t really like her that much . . . I don’t like people to say I’m a liar. That doesn’t -- That doesn’t go right with me.” R. 74, l. 24 – 75, l. 7.

An incident occurred in February, 2015 when the minor was again arguing with her mother. The minor said her mother told her appellant was “just trying to protect you,” from harm where she was caught coming out of the woods with a boy. The minor told her mother that appellant was not trying to protect her, and she said her mother “started hitting me with a belt and grabbed a broom.” The following occurred on direct-examination of the minor about these explosive allegations:

So my mom was -- like, started hitting me with a belt, I think, or -- I don't know. And then when she pulled out the broom, that's what triggered it, because I was really upset already, and just the fact

that she wasn't listening to me and I was trying to convince her to, like, listen to me -- she wasn't listening.

So she grabbed the broom and she was about to hit me, and when she did that, I was upset, and I said, You don't have to worry about me. Why are you so worried about me? Why do you hate me?

I was yelling at her, saying, You hate me. You don't care about me, trust me. You don't like me. You don't want me, saying things -- I was just yelling.

Q. What did you end up saying?

A. I ended up yelling at her and saying, You should be worried about him. He's raping me.

Q. What did she do when you told her he was raping you?

A. She didn't understand me because I said it in English, obviously, so I'm guessing she didn't understand what that word meant, so she just continued on hitting me. So that's what told me -- I felt like she didn't care at all.

I told her one of the biggest secrets, and she didn't care. I yelled at her and said, You don't care at all. I understand that. I was yelling at her. She yelled at me, saying, What do you mean, raping? What does that mean?

So my older brother came out of his room, and he started -- he looked scared, but he started explaining to her, and she was, like, Are you sure? Are you for real? She's telling me, am I being serious?

And so --

Q. Did anything happen after that? Did y'all go to the police or anything?

A. No.

Q. Why not?

A. She asked me, and I was scared, but she told me that I can't call the police because then our family would be separated and be all messed up and that everybody's going to go. The whole place is going to go.

R. 65, l. 7 – 66, l. 22.

The minor claimed on redirect-examination that appellant was rude and violent to everyone in the family. R. 132, ll. 11-20. The allegations were quickly repeated to a friend, then at the minor's school, to DSS, and the police. R. 274, l. 12 – 302, l. 18.

DSS involvement

When the state went to call Department of Social Services worker Letrice Smalls as a witness, defense counsel Ford objected that her testimony would only be vouching for the alleged victim and bolstering. However, Ford did not challenge the qualifications of the witness, so the Smalls testimony **immediately** proceeded before the jury over appellant's objection. R. 239, l. 10 – 240, l. 6.

Smalls testified that she was a foster care worker with the Charleston County Department of Social Services. R. 240, ll. 1-25. She was assigned to the minor's case in March of 2015. R. 241, ll. 11-17. The minor and her siblings all resided in foster care at the time of the trial. R. 241, ll. 18-25.

Smalls testified that the mother had visitation with all of the children and visited with them regularly as urged. However, as to the minor in question, Smalls said there was an "incident" in January of 2016 where the mother was reading Bible verses. Defense counsel's objection to this testimony was sustained. However, Smalls said the mother's visits with the minor in question ceased after that "incident." R. 242, l. 4 – 243, l. 7.

The following then occurred on direct examination of Smalls:

Q. How long -- I think you've already said it. You've been a foster care worker how long?

A. Nine years.

Q. And have you worked with lots of families where the supportive parent of -- the non-abusive parent is non-supportive and non-believing?

MS. FORD: Objection. I'm not quite sure where she's going.

MS. HERRING-LASH: That's it about.

MS. FORD: Well, relevance to this case, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Is she offering some sort of opinion? What is she testifying about?

MS. HERRING-LASH: That it's not unusual at this point the children remain in foster care.

THE WITNESS: They remain in foster care?
Yes, ma'am.

BY MS. HERRING-LASH:

Q. What would have to happen for the Department of Social Services to return them - --

A. There would have to be a change of circumstances. **Currently Mr. Ruiz resides in the home with Ms. Lorenzo**, and *the other issue is that Ms. Lorenzo doesn't believe [Minor], and because of this, the agency would feel that she's unable to protect.*

R. 243, l. 12 – 244, l. 11. (emphasis added).

On cross-examination, Smalls was evasive of direct questions but she managed to add that there had been “a finding against Mr. Ruiz” by DSS, and apparently the family court. Smalls admitted that for “clarification needs” – to get her children returned from the agency -- that the mother had to admit she believed the minor. When asked to admit that the family court was a very different court than criminal court, Smalls attempted to turn the tables, and said that the plan was to terminate the parental rights of the mother and put the children up for adoption. When asked to admit that the mother could get her children back if appellant was not in the house, Smalls claimed that she was not an expert on that subject. However, Smalls continued

with the theme that DSS strongly believed appellant was guilty and that the mother was a bad mother for continuing to allow appellant to live in the family home, and for not stating that she believed the minor was telling the truth. R. 245, l. 16 – 248, l. 18.

Other testimony

The minor's fifteen-year-old brother, Sergio, testified and admitted he did not like appellant. R. 204, l. 5 – 205, l. 22. Sergio admitted his sister, the minor in question, could become real violent, aggressive, and she could be a bully in their household. R. 208, ll. 11-19.

The minor's ten-year-old sister, Leansy, claimed she looked underneath appellant's bedroom door one time, and essentially said she saw appellant and her minor sister having sex, even though they both had their clothes on. R. 218, l. 10 – 231, l. 6. Leansy admitted she later told a DSS worker that she never, in fact, looked under the door. R. 231, ll. 3-6.

Leansy remembered the day that her sister accused appellant of raping her. Leansy claimed her mother was "kind of laughing but she was like -- her face was, like, nervous, but she was laughing, like, she didn't want to believe what was happening." R. 223, l. 7 – 224, l. 2. Leansy said she wanted appellant out of their home, and she said she hated him "because of what he did to my sister and because he ruined my life." R. 235, l. 23 – 237, l. 15.

The mother testifies

The children's mother testified in appellant's defense. She testified the minor accuser was always aggressive, and "confronted" her even as a young child. She said the minor did not understand consequences that flowed from her lying. R. 336, l. 8 – 337, l. 4.

The mother also testified that after appellant was hit by a car he could no longer have sex, which was another reason she asserted proved that her minor daughter was not telling the truth about sex between them. R. 329, l. 10 – 337, l. 4.

The mother noted that on the day the minor accused appellant of rape, she was earlier scolded that day because appellant revealed the minor was seen coming out of the woods with a boy, and “she was doing it [the accusation] out of revenge.” R. 349, l. 13 – 350, l. 19. The mother explained that the minor was upset and angry. The minor said that appellant was lying about her coming out of the woods with a boy. The mother said when minor accused appellant of rape she told her “what you’re telling me is really serious . . . And so from that point everything changed. It was Carlos that was accusing her, but then it was her accusing him.” R. 350, l. 20 – 351, l. 24.

The mother also said she told the minor that her allegations were impossible, and that appellant could not perform sexually. R. 353, l. 1 – 355, l. 25. The following occurred on direct examination of the mother:

THE WITNESS: And I said, [minor], you seem to be acting and playing like nothing was going on, and look at the situation we're in.

And, again, she said, What?

I said, [minor], look at the situation we're in.

It's serious, and there was a word that she used that left me in shock. She said, I'm acting.

And I said, How can you be playing with this serious situation?

She just said, I'm acting.

And so I said, What are you trying to achieve with all this, that Carlos leaves? And then what?

MS. HERRING-LASH: Your Honor, I think we just had hearsay over and over, and I would object to this.

THE COURT: No, not her saying what [the minor] said. Go ahead.

THE WITNESS: And so she said, I'm acting.

So I said, What are you trying to do here?

And she said, We want Carlos to leave, and then the others started joining in: We want Carlos to leave. They were yelling: He should leave, he should leave. They said, Let's call the police and get him to leave.

And I told her, [minor], I know you're lying. I wish I could believe you, but this situation is what it is, and these are lies. So I said, What do you want? What are you trying to make happen?

I want Carlos out.

And I said, Then what?

My father will come back.

And I said, [minor], that's behind us.

R. 356, l. 3 – 357, l. 9.

The natural father of the children the minor was referring to had been deported, apparently for among other things, criminal domestic violence.

The essence of the mother's testimony was that the minor accuser hated appellant, she and her siblings wanted him out of the house, and they had idealistic and unrealistic ideas that their deported father had changed, and that he could return to the household when appellant was gone.

Discussion

Defense counsel Ford correctly objected that the testimony of DSS worker Smalls would only vouch for the credibility of the victim and bolster the testimony she had already given. There was no delay between this objection and the immediate testimony of Smalls. Nonetheless, defense counsel Ford correctly objected to the relevance of the Smalls testimony regarding the

non-abusive parent (here, the mother) also being “non-supportive” and “non-believing.” Further, the minor here and the other children could not be returned to the mother because she did not believe the minor, and therefore her agency, DSS, thought the mother would be unable to protect the minor from appellant, who she made no doubt DSS believed was a guilty child rapist. R. 242, l. 21 – 244, l. 11.

As stated, Smalls would continue to stress that there had already been a finding by DSS and/or the family court that appellant was guilty, and that the mother could not have her children returned from foster care unless she said she believed, as did DSS, that the minor was telling the truth.

It is clear at this point in the jurisprudence of our state on child sex abuse cases that it is improper for a witness to state or imply that they believe the alleged victim is telling the truth in their allegations of sexual abuse.

In State v. Kromah, 401 S.C. 340, 737 S.E.2d 490 (2013), the Supreme Court held that testimony by a forensic interviewer that the victim had given a “compelling finding” of child abuse was inadmissible. In Kromah, our Supreme Court noted that while experts are permitted to give an opinion, they cannot offer an opinion regarding the credibility of others.

The Court further stated that it was undeniable that the primary purpose of calling a “forensic interviewer” as a witness was to lend credibility to the victim’s allegations. Nonetheless, the Court stressed that the assessment of the credibility of witnesses is within the exclusive province of the jury, and that witnesses generally were not allowed to testify another witness was telling the truth. State v. Kromah, 401 S.C. at 358, 737 S.E.2d at 499-500. See, also, State v. McKerley, 397 S.C. 461, 464, 725 S.E.2d 139, 141 (Ct. App. 2012).

In Smith v. State, 386 S.C. 562, 564-65, 689 S.E.2d 629-631 (2010), the Court found a forensic interviewer improperly bolstered the alleged victim's testimony, where the forensic interviewer testified the alleged victim told her the defendant had sexually assaulted her, and the interviewer found the allegation "believable."

Here, Smalls was testifying as an employee of the Department of Social Services that the children, including the minor accuser, could not be returned to live with their mother because appellant was still living there, that the mother [improperly] did not believe the minor, and therefore DSS did not think the mother could protect the minor from the guilty appellant. There is no other credible reading of this testimony, or the purpose of the DSS employee's reason for being called as a witness.

Prior to the testimony of Smalls, defense counsel Ford correctly argued that the testimony was only meant to bolster the allegations of the accusing minor, and to vouch for her credibility. Counsel further and correctly objected on the grounds of relevance when Smalls did precisely what defense counsel Ford objected to prior to her testimony.

Appellant submits it is extraordinarily difficult for a defendant to obtain a fair trial when he is accused of sexually abusing a child. Our Supreme Court, and this Court, have warned against explicit and more subtle testimony which indicates that the witness believes the child, and thus believes that the defendant was guilty.

In State v. Chavis, 412 S.C. 101, 771 S.E.2d 336 (2015), the Supreme Court held it was error to allow a witness to testify that her recommendation was that the victim was not supposed to be around the defendant for any reason. This improperly bolstered the credibility of the victim.

The precise thing happened in this case, as shown above. This testimony can only be interpreted as the witness, here Smalls, representing the Department of Social Services, believed the alleged victim's claim that the defendant, -- here appellant -- had sexually abused her. The children could not be returned because the mother did not believe the minor, and she had appellant, whom she believed, living with her. This testimony was improper. See, also, State v. Anderson, 412 S.C. 212, 776 S.E.2d 76 (2105).

In State v. Jennings, 394 S.C. 473, 716 S.E.2d 91 (2011), the Court held that the lower court incorrectly allowed a witness to testify the child provided a compelling disclosure of abuse by the defendant. This was the functional equivalent of testimony that the witness believed the child was telling the truth.