ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
The Honorable Roger M. Young, Sr., Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2017-000214

---

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

CARLOS A. RUIZ,

Appellant.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

J. SCOTT MATTHEWS  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

SCARLETT A. WILSON  
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit

101 Meeting Street, Suite 400  
OT Wallace Building  
Charleston, SC 29401  
(843)-958-1900

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED  
MAR 09 2018  
SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

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

## ARGUMENT

### I.

**The issue of whether the testimony of Letrice Smalls was improper bolstering or irrelevant was not preserved for appeal, because Appellant did not make a specific, contemporaneous objection on bolstering and he did not receive a ruling to his objection for relevance. Even if Appellant successfully preserved the issue for appeal, Appellant did not suffer any prejudice from the contested testimony and any potential error was harmless, because Appellant elicited the same testimony from Letrice Smalls on cross examination, and from Appellant's own witness, Victim's Mother.**

Appellant contends the trial judge erred in admitting the testimony of Letrice Smalls regarding Victim's status in foster care, because her testimony was irrelevant and it improperly bolstered the testimony of Victim. However, Appellant did not properly preserve this issue for appeal because Appellant did not make a specific, contemporaneous objection on the grounds of improper bolstering. Appellant did object to the State's initial question regarding Victim's foster care status based on relevance, but did not receive a ruling from the trial judge. Appellant then failed to object to the State's second question on the same subject or Smalls' answer. Even if we assume that Appellant properly preserved this issue for appeal, Appellant did not suffer any prejudice from the testimony, because as part of his trial strategy, he elicited the same testimony on his cross examination of Smalls and again through Mother in Appellant's case in chief. Any possible error caused by admission of this testimony is therefore harmless. Appellant's convictions and sentences should be affirmed.

#### **A. Improper Bolstering and Relevance were not Appropriately Preserved for Appeal**

Appellant contends the trial court erred in admitting the testimony of Letrice Smalls regarding Victim's status in foster care and the standards utilized by DSS in returning children to a non-abusive parent. Appellant did not properly preserve this issue for appeal. In analyzing

whether Appellant properly preserved this issue, it is instructive to review the relevant portion of the record. The following exchange occurred during the State's direct examination of Smalls:

Assistant Solicitor Herring-Lash: And have you worked with lots of families where the supportive parent of – the non-abusive parent is non-supportive and non-believing?

Deputy Public Defender Ford: Objection. I'm not quite sure where she's going.

Assistant Solicitor Herring-Lash: That's it about.

Deputy Public Defender Ford: Well, relevance to this case, Your Honor.

The Court: Is she offering some sort of opinion? What is she testifying about?

Assistant Solicitor Herring-Lash: That it's not unusual at this point the children remain in foster care.

Letrice Smalls: They remain in foster care? Yes, ma'am.

Assistant Solicitor Herring-Lash: What would have to happen for the Department of Social Services to return them?

Letrice Smalls: There would have to be a change of circumstances. Currently [Appellant] resides in the home with [Mother], and the other issue is that [Mother] doesn't believe [Victim], and because of this, the agency would feel that she's unable to protect.

Assistant Solicitor Herring-Lash: Those are all the questions I have, Ms. Smalls. Thanks. Please answer any questions Ms. Ford may have.

(R. 243-44, lines 15-14). The aforementioned questions and answers are the testimony that Appellant contends was admitted in error by the trial judge. In the aforementioned exchange, Appellant does not object to Smalls' testimony based on improper bolstering. However, Appellant contends in his brief that trial counsel did in fact object to Smalls' testimony based on improper bolstering or vouching for Victim. This is a mischaracterization of the record by Appellant. A thorough review of the record clearly shows that Appellant raised these objections

to the testimony of Dr. Carol Swieciki, the expert witness called immediately after Smalls, but not to Smalls' testimony. The relevant portion of the record reads as follows:

The Court: Folks, we've got two more witnesses that we want to get in today. One of them's real short. One may take in the neighborhood of half hour, 30 minutes. What I want to do right now is take a break to use the restroom, if you need to make a phone call, but rather than 5:00, it might be somewhere 5:30, maybe 6:00, but – I hope not that late, but we want to get these **two witnesses** in today, okay?

....

The Court: Are you challenging the qualifications **of the expert**?

Deputy Public Defender Ford: No, in general, I'm not challenging qualifications. I would object to the testimony as essentially vouching or bolstering, but—

The Court: Assuming that she's correct and testifies, he or she, it won't be, but I guess what I'm getting at is are you going to challenge this person's expertise? Do you want to have a hearing?

Deputy Public Defender Ford: No, I don't challenge her qualifications.

(R. 238-39, lines 25-24) (emphasis added). The two remaining witnesses for the day were Smalls and Dr. Swieciki. Considering that the State only offered Dr. Swieciki as an expert, it is clear that Appellant's objection applied to Dr. Swieciki's testimony and not Smalls' testimony. Appellant even acknowledges this fact in his brief when he declares Smalls' testimony "was irrelevant because the opinion of a DSS witness (**a lay one at that**) that the alleged victim was telling the truth did not make it more or less probable that the jury should believe appellant was guilty." (Brief of Appellant p. 13) (emphasis added).

"In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge. Issues not raised and ruled upon in the trial court will not be considered on appeal." State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693 (2003). A party need not use the exact name of a legal doctrine in order to preserve it, but it must be clear that the

argument has been presented on that ground. State v. Russell, 345 S.C. 128, 546 S.E.2d 202 (Ct. App. 2001). A party may not argue one ground at trial and an alternate ground on appeal. State v. Prioleau, 345 S.C. 404, 548 S.E.2d 213 (2001). “The rule is well established that if asserted errors are not presented to the lower Court, the question cannot be raised for the first time on appeal.” State v. Freiburger, 366 S.C. 125, 135, 620 S.E. 2d 737, 742 (2005). “Our law is clear that a party must make a contemporaneous objection that is ruled upon by the trial judge to preserve an issue for appellate review.” State v. Sheppard, 391 S.C. 415, 420-21, 706 S.E.2d 16, 19 (2011).

Here, Appellant failed to properly preserve any issues for appeal. Appellant failed to preserve the issue of Smalls’ testimony being improper bolstering because he did not make an objection on those grounds during Smalls’ testimony. The record clearly shows that the trial judge anticipated the jury only hearing two additional witnesses that particular day. (R. 238-39). The trial judge then asked Appellant if he had any objection to the State’s expert. (R. 239). The Appellant objected to the expert’s testimony on the basis of improper bolstering. (R. 239). The State only offered or even attempted to offer one of the remaining witnesses as an expert. (R. 239-73). The State offered Dr. Swieciki as an expert in the field of child abuse dynamics (R. 251-52). Appellant renewed his objection to Dr. Swieciki’s testimony when she testified and the objection was overruled. (R. 251). Appellant acknowledges in his brief that Smalls was merely a lay witness, not an expert. (Brief of Appellant p. 13). Appellant never objected to Smalls’ testimony based on improper bolstering. (R. 240-48). Appellant’s only objection to Smalls’ testimony was on grounds of relevance. (R. 243). The issue of improper bolstering was never raised to the trial judge regarding Smalls’ testimony and it was not ruled upon. Therefore, Appellant’s alleged error of improper bolstering is not preserved for appeal.

Appellant also failed to preserve the issue of Smalls' testimony being relevant. Appellant first objected on the vague grounds "I'm not quite sure where she's going", then Appellant clarified that he was objecting based on relevance. (R. 243, lines 18-22). However, Appellant did not receive a ruling from the trial judge, nor did he object to the solicitor's follow up question or Smalls' answer<sup>1</sup>. The trial judge asked the State about their purpose in asking the question, but he did not provide a ruling. The State then asked one final question of Smalls, which Smalls answered. Neither the State's follow up question, nor Smalls' answer were objected to by Appellant. Because the Appellant did not properly raise the issue to the trial judge and did not receive a ruling, the issue of relevance is not properly preserved for appeal.

Even if we assume for the sake of argument that Appellant was referring to the testimony of Smalls when he made his earlier objection to bolstering, Appellant's objection was not contemporaneous. Appellant cannot make an anticipatory objection to all future potential issues. An Appellant can make a motion *in limine*, but any ruling by the trial judge on that motion is not final and a contemporaneous objection must still be made at trial. See State v. Wannamaker, 346 S.C. 495, 499, 552 S.E.2d 284, 286 (2001). Here, Appellant didn't make a contemporaneous objection to the issue of bolstering and he didn't receive a ruling on the issue of relevance. Therefore, Appellant's issues are not preserved for appeal. Appellant's convictions and sentences should be affirmed.

#### **B. Lack of Prejudice to Appellant and Harmless Error**

Even if this Court determines that Appellant properly preserved his argument for appeal, Appellant did not suffer any prejudice from the contested testimony because he elicited the same testimony from Smalls on cross examination and through Mother on direct examination. It is

---

<sup>1</sup> Even if Appellant had received a ruling on his objection, Smalls' testimony was clearly relevant evidence, because Appellant made the DSS requirements imposed upon Mother to get her children back a central theme of his defense. (R. 245-46, 368-69, 421).

instructive to review the questions that were asked of Smalls by Appellant and the questions asked of Mother. The following questions were asked of Smalls by Appellant on cross examination:

Deputy Public Defender Ford: In this particular case, DSS won't even allow [Mother] the opportunity to do the other conditions until she admits that she believes [Victim]?

Smalls: I wouldn't say that DSS wouldn't, but the experts with the LCC made a recommendation that clarification needs to be completed before parenting.

Deputy Public Defender Ford: So assuming [Appellant] could be out of the house, all [Mother] has to do is say, I believe [Victim]?

Smalls: And then there's also the issue that there's been a finding against [Appellant].

....

Deputy Public Defender Ford: Because [Mother] doesn't believe. We're talking about [Mother's] parental rights?

Smalls: That is part of the issue, yes.

Deputy Public Defender Ford: She would have been able to get her kids back, more than likely, a long time ago if she had just said, I believe [Victim], and [Appellant] is not in the house?

Smalls: Because I'm not an expert in that, I'm not exactly sure. I can't say yes or no. I'm not sure.

(R. 245-46). Appellant clearly elicits more detailed responses regarding how DSS determines whether an abused child should be returned to a non-abusive parent than he contends were improperly allowed by the trial judge when the State asked similar questions. Appellant elicited similar testimony again when he called Mother as a witness in his defense. During Mother's direct examination, she was asked the following questions:

Deputy Public Defender Ford: Do you want your children back?

Mother: Of course I do.

Deputy Public Defender Ford: And why won't they give you your kid's back? What was indicated to you?

Mother: Well, because they're saying that I haven't done the clarification.

Deputy Public Defender Ford: What do you need to do to complete the clarification?

Mother: When I began to understand what they wanted, what the clarification was, it was that I had to say that I believed [Victim] and I had to say that things had happened that way.

....

Deputy Public Defender Ford: Do they want you to say that you believe [Victim]?

Mother: They have always pressured me.

Deputy Public Defender Ford: Have you been able to do that for them?

Mother: They have tried to pressure me many different ways, a lot of times.

(R. 368-69). Appellant clearly elicits testimony from Mother about why DSS will not return her children to her. Appellant then emphasized the fact that Mother did not believe Victim in closing. (R. 421). Appellant repeatedly emphasized that Mother should be considered a credible witness, because DSS told her she merely had to say she believed her child, but even with this incentive Mother could not do that because she could not believe her daughter's lie.

In ruling on the admissibility of evidence, the trial judge has considerable latitude and his ruling will not be disturbed absent a showing of probable prejudice. State v. Kelly, 319 S.C. 173, 177, 460 S.E.2d 368, 370 (1995). An "error without prejudice does not warrant reversal." State v. King, 367 S.C. 131, 136, 623 S.E.2d 865, 867 (Ct. App. 2005). "A court's ruling on the admissibility of evidence will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion or the commission of legal error which results in prejudice to the defendant." Id. "Whether an error is harmless depends on the circumstances of the particular case." State v. Thompson, 352 S.C. 552,

562, 575 S.E.2d 77, 83 (Ct. App. 2003). “No definite rule of law governs this finding; rather, the materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case.” State v. Mitchell, 286 S.C. 572, 573, 336 S.E.2d 150, 151 (1985). “Where a review of the entire record establishes the error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, the conviction should not be reversed.” Thompson, 352 S.C. at 562, 575 S.E.2d at 83. “Error is harmless when it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial.” Mitchell, 286 S.C. at 573, 336 S.E.2d at 151 (quoting State v. Key, 256 S.C. 90, 180 S.E.2d 888 (1971)). “The admission of improper evidence is harmless where the evidence is merely cumulative to other evidence.” State v. Kirton, 381 S.C. 7, 37, 671 S.E.2d 107, 122 (Ct. App. 2008).

As an initial matter, Appellant waived his objection on relevance by not only failing to reserve his previous objection, but also by eliciting the same allegedly offensive testimony in his case in chief. See State v. McKinney, 258 S.C. 570, 190 S.E.2d 30 (1972), State v. Smith, 245 S.C. 59, 138 S.E.2d 705 (1964). However, even if this Court were to find that Appellant properly preserved the alleged error for appeal and did not waive his prior objection, any error did not prejudice Appellant and is therefore harmless. Appellant made the relationship of Mother and DSS a central theme of his defense. After initially objecting to Smalls’ testimony on the basis of relevance, Appellant then proceeded to ask Smalls at least four times about Mother not believing Victim and how that affected Mother getting her kids back. Subsequently, Appellant asked Mother at least four times why DSS had not given her kids back. Appellant completed his strategy by then arguing in closing that Mother simply had to tell DSS she believed Victim to get all of her kids back. However, Appellant argued, Mother could not and would not do this, because “she can’t lie. She can’t lie, especially when it comes to having to sacrifice someone.”

(R. 421). The obvious implication from this argument is that Mother did not believe Victim, therefore the jury should not either.

It is therefore disingenuous for Appellant to argue that he was prejudiced in some way by Smalls' testimony. Smalls merely testified that it is DSS procedure not to return a child to a home where the non-abusive parent does not believe the child has been abused<sup>2</sup>. Rather than minimizing this point, Appellant expanded upon Smalls' answers and emphasized them in his defense. Appellant not only expanded on this testimony when he cross-examined Smalls, but he called Mother to directly ask her whether DSS would return her children if she believed Victim. Appellant then used DSS' reasons for not returning Victim and Mother's refusal to comply with DSS requirements as a central pillar of his closing argument. Because Appellant used DSS' standards and Mother's failure to comply with them to his advantage, Appellant was not prejudiced by the admission of Smalls' testimony on direct. Because Appellant actively elicited the allegedly improper testimony in his own defense, any potential error was harmless. Appellant's convictions and sentences should be affirmed.

---

<sup>2</sup> This is a far cry from Smalls testifying about the credibility of the Victim and her disclosure as prohibited by State v. Kromah, 401 S.C. 340, 737 S.E.2d 490 (2013) and its progeny.

**CONCLUSION**

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgments and convictions of the lower court should be affirmed.